ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

May 21 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
R. Markley Dennis, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000504

RECEIVED

APR 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARELL ONEIL BOSTON,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David N. Lyon (S.C. Bar # 100676)
Duff & Childs, LLC
P. O. Box 1486
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 790-0603

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Appellate Division
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized after law enforcement conducted a "knock and talk" without reasonable suspicion of illegal activity in violation of Appellant's right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution and *State v. Counts*, 413, S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Boston was indicted for manufacturing crack cocaine, possession with the intent to distribute crack cocaine, and possession with the intent to distribute a controlled substance within proximity of a school. Indictments. On February 7, 2018, a jury found Boston guilty of manufacturing crack cocaine. (R. p. 481). The Honorable R. Dennis Markley, Jr. sentenced Boston to a term of 17 years. (R. p. 500). On March 15, 2018, Judge Markley denied Boston's motion for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and his co-defendant moved pretrial to suppress evidence seized in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights, and his right to privacy under Article I, Section 10, of the South Carolina Constitution, after the police conducted a knock and talk without reasonable suspicion. The court held a hearing on the motion on November 30, 2017.

At the hearing, Officer Joseph Sherwood from the North Charleston City Police Department ("NCCPD") testified that on March 6, 2015, at around 5:25 p.m., he was dispatched to a service call in the Chicora Cherokee community. (R. p. 10, ln. 6-7; p. 11, ln. 17-22; p. 14, ln. 14-16). He did not remember the specific reason he had been dispatched to the area, but he admitted the reason was completely unrelated to Appellant Boston or the apartment where Officer Sherwood eventually conducted the knock and talk. (R. p. 14, ln. 14-16; p. 51, ln. 20 – p. 52, ln. 2).

According to Officer Sherwood, the Chicora Cherokee community was a "hot spot for narcotics activity" and he mentioned several previous complaints of drug activity and illegal trespassing in the area. (R. p.13, ln. 4-9). Officer Sherwood also testified that some of the apartments in that area were single occupancy housing for people with mental impairments who needed assistance and could "easily [be] taken advantage of." (R. p.13, ln. 12-17).

Officer Sherwood, along with two other NCCPD officers stayed in the area after their service call, "just keeping a presence." (R. p. 14, ln. 2-20). While doing so, they saw two men exit a taxi cab and walk into the apartment where Officer Sherwood knew Denise Holman lived. (R. p.14, ln. 21 - p. 15, ln. 3). Officer Sherwood testified that he recognized the two men, Appellant Boston and his co-defendant Holmes, from several previous "run-ins with them." (R. p.15, ln. 12-17). The only specific detail Sherwood offered regarding his prior "run-ins," was recalling that he had seen Boston and Holmes at a house on Osceola Street, where the NCCPD had conducted several drug searches. (R. p.16, ln. 1-8). Sherwood admitted he did not know whether Boston and Holmes lived at that house, only that he had seen them there. (R. p.16, ln. 3-4).

Officer Sherwood also testified he knew Denise Holman and was familiar with her "mental status." (R. p. 15, ln. 1-11). He indicated that he had stopped her once and had a "couple of little run-ins with her" on narcotics related issues, but "nothing too serious." (R. p. 15, ln. 9-11; p. 50, ln. 21). Officer Sherwood referred to Ms. Holman as "mentally handicapped," though he used that term "loosely." (R. p. 48, ln 19-25). He stated that due to her mental condition, she may not have fully understood what was occurring on that day. (R. p. 50, ln. 7-11).

Officer Sherwood testified he knew Boston and Holmes did not live with Ms. Holman. (R. p. 15, ln. 5-6). He explained that he "found it odd just because of where he knew them from" and "kind of weird" that the two men would go inside Ms. Holman's apartment. (R. p. 15, ln. 1-11).

Officer Sherwood testified that after the men had been in the house for about 15 minutes, he decided to perform a knock and talk at Ms. Holman's apartment. (R. p. 15, ln. 23-24; p. 17, ln. 5-6). According to Sherwood, the purpose of conducting the knock and talk was to "make sure that, one, [Ms. Holman] is ok and two, see if there is any possibly any crime or if she had any information for us." (R p. 17, ln. 7-12).

Officer Sherwood testified that he knocked on the door, Holman opened the door, and she indicated he could come into the house. (R. p. 17, ln 22 – p. 18, ln. 1; p. 53, ln. 7). As Officer Sherwood came into the doorway, he testified he saw Appellant Boston and his co-defendant in the kitchen “huddled around the microwave,” which was on. (R. p. 23, ln. 4-10). Despite being across the living room from the kitchen, Officer Sherwood testified that he saw two plastic baggies on the kitchen counter next to the microwave with white residue on them, which he immediately believed to be cocaine residue. (R. p. 23, ln. 10-14; p. 56, ln. 21– p. 57, ln. 3). And, though not mentioned in his initial incident report, Officer Sherwood also testified the two men appeared to be concealing something in their hands, based on how they had positioned their bodies toward him. (R. p. 34, ln. 10-25; p. 41, ln. 1-14). Officer Sherwood stated the two men then ran to the bathroom. (R. p. 28, ln. 18-20).

Officer Sherwood testified he ordered the men to come out of the bathroom, which they did, and he brought them into the living room. (R. p. 28, ln. 21 – p. 29, ln. 4). Another officer searched Mr. Holmes’ person and found a scale and some cocaine. (R. p. 29, ln. 1-4). No contraband was found on Boston. (R. p. 359, ln. 5-20)

Officer Sherwood next performed a protective sweep of the kitchen and bathroom. (R. p. 29, ln. 5-8). In the bathroom he saw a Pyrex measuring cup containing what appeared to him to be crack cocaine with steam still coming off of the cup. (R. p. 29, ln. 9-12). Based on Sherwood’s observations during the protective sweep, he secured a search warrant for the apartment. (R. p. 31, 11-15). Sherwood testified the evidence seized suggested crack had been cooking in the apartment when he came in. (R. p. 31, ln. 2-5). Boston and Holmes were arrested; Ms. Holman was not arrested. (R. p. 48, ln. 19-22).

On cross examination, Sherwood admitted his initial incident report did not mention that he observed the Defendants huddled around the microwave, nor did it mention that he saw the men hiding something in their hands. (R. p. 41, ln. 11 – p. 43, ln. 6). He also admitted there was no prior drug complaint or any other complaint about Holman's apartment. (R. p. 51, ln. 1-14). Sherwood further admitted that at the time he approached the door to conduct the knock and talk, he had seen nothing suggesting criminal activity. (R. p. 69, ln. 2-16).

Ms. Holman testified that she used to use crack cocaine. She also admitted she had had an aneurism and a stroke and that she had slight trouble remembering things. (R. p. 96, ln. 5-22). She stated that Boston and Holmes had permission to be at her house. (R. p. 97, ln. 24 – p. 98, ln. 6). She also stated that there was a curtain covering the doorway between the living room and the kitchen, which was not see through, though she could not recall the exact position of the curtain on that day. (R. p. 98, ln. 23 – p. 99, ln. 10; p. 101, ln. 5-8; p. 102, ln. 3-9).

Boston testified that he had known Denise Holman for about 15 years and that he had visited her on prior occasions and at prior addresses. (R. p. 104, ln. 14 – p. 105, ln. 5). His reason for going to Holman's apartment on the day of the incident was to upload music onto his phone. (R. p. 106, ln. 3-7). He denied he came to Holman's apartment to manufacture crack cocaine. (R. p. 106, ln. 11-13). He also stated he was never in the kitchen during the time he was at Holman's apartment, but was instead sitting on the couch when the police came in. (R. p. 113, ln. 2-25).

Defense counsel argued that the evidence collected in Ms. Holman's apartment was the result of an unconstitutional knock and talk, and that the evidence should be suppressed. Specifically, Defense counsel argued that Officer Sherwood did not have reasonable articulable suspicion of illegal activity and therefore, the knock and talk was improper under the South Carolina Constitution Article I, Section 10 and *State v. Counts*. (R. p. 139-140; p. 534). Defense

counsel noted that while Sherwood's incident report incorrectly stated that he approached Holman's apartment because of a "drug complaint," his testimony was that there was no such complaint and his reason for being in the neighborhood was unrelated to Boston, Holmes, or Holman. (R. p. 132, ln. 13-14; p. 535). Counsel further argued that Sherwood's claimed knowledge of Boston's criminal history or association with a "known drug house" was not sufficient to demonstrate reasonable suspicion of illegal activity justifying a knock and talk on Holman's apartment. (R. p. 536). Boston's counsel argued that unlike the situation in *Counts*, there was no complaint regarding Ms. Holman's apartment, no complaint regarding either defendant, and no indication that criminal activity was occurring in Ms. Holman's apartment. (R. p. 150-151). Defense counsel also argued that Boston had a reasonable expectation of privacy in Ms. Holman's apartment, but even if the judge found he did not, Boston had a heightened privacy protection under the South Carolina Constitution. (R. p. 128; p. 534).

In its January 10, 2018 Order, the trial court found that the knock and talk was proper and declined to suppress the evidence. Specifically, the trial court found that both Defendants had standing to challenge the admissibility of the evidence, and considering the totality of the circumstances, Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion to conduct a knock and talk at Ms. Holman's apartment. (R. p. 610). The trial court cited the following facts to support its finding that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion: there were complaints of drug activity in Ms. Holman's apartment complex; Officer Sherwood was familiar with Defendants through prior interactions involving drug activity; and Officer Sherwood knew Ms. Holman as the sole occupant of the apartment and as a person with a history of drug use and a vulnerable mental state. (R. p. 609).

At trial, prior to opening arguments, Boston's counsel renewed the motion to suppress. (R. p. 167, ln. 16-18). The trial judge indicated that his written order included all of the reasons supporting his finding that Officer Sherwood had the requisite reasonable suspicion to perform the knock and talk. (R. p. 167, ln. 1-15).

During Officer Sherwood's testimony, the State introduced evidence collected at Holman's house including photos of the following: the microwave and counter area; a cocaine swab of the microwave; and a Pyrex cup with a white substance in it positioned beside a whisk on the lip of the bathroom tub. (R. pp. 208-220). Additional evidence introduced during Sherwood's testimony included the baggie that Sherwood saw on the kitchen counter, a digital scale, the Pyrex cup, the whisk, and baking soda, all of which Sherwood explained were involved in the manufacture of cocaine. (R. pp. 208-220). Defense counsel renewed her objection to each piece of evidence, and the evidence was admitted subject to counsel's continuing objections. (R. pp. 208-220). Testimony from the other officers at the scene revealed no contraband was found on Boston. (R. p. 359, ln. 5-20). The physical evidence was not checked for fingerprints or DNA. (R. p. 74, ln. 5-9; p. 250, ln. 23-p. 252, ln. 14).

The jury found Boston guilty of manufacturing crack cocaine. (R. p. 481). The court imposed a sentence of 17 years. (R. p. 500).

On February 14, 2018, Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial with an accompanying memo, arguing that the court should have granted Boston's motion to suppress the drug evidence because NCCPD officers did not have reasonable suspicion to approach Holman's apartment and knock on the door as required by *State v. Counts* and the South Carolina Constitution. (R. pp. 611-620). Defense counsel further argued Officer Sherwood's testimony that he saw nothing suggesting that a crime was being committed at Holman's house during the 15 minutes prior to

the knock and talk demonstrated that he did not have reasonable suspicion. (R. pp. 616-618). Additionally, defense counsel argued that Officer Sherwood's knowledge of a suspects' past arrests or convictions was insufficient to constitute reasonable suspicion, citing *United States v. Foster*, 634 F.3d 243, 256 (4th Cir. 2011). (R. p. 617).

Judge Dennis denied the motion at a short hearing on March 15, 2018. (R. pp. 505-507)

ARGUMENT

- 1. The court erred by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized after law enforcement conducted an impermissible "knock and talk" without reasonable suspicion of illegal activity in violation of Appellant's right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution and *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 776, S.E.2d 59 (2015).**

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. "In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures." *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (citing S.C. Const. art. I, § 10). "In addition to language which mirrors the Fourth Amendment, S.C. Const. art. 1 § 10. contains an express right to privacy: The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and *unreasonable invasions of privacy* shall not be violated." *Id.* at 644, 541, S.E.2d at 840-841 (emphasis in original). Accordingly, South Carolina courts have ruled that the state constitution's express right to privacy "favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment." *Id.* at 645, 541 S.E.2d at 841. Thus, "[b]y articulating a specific prohibition against 'unreasonable invasions of privacy,' the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution." *State v. Weaver*, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007) (citing *Forrester*, 343 S.C. at 644-45, 541 S.E.2d at 841).

A knock and talk has been described as an investigative technique in which law enforcement, without a warrant, knock on a person's door and seek to speak to an occupant for the purpose of gathering evidence. *Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1, 21, 133 (2013). The procedure does not constitute a *per se* violation of the Fourth Amendment, and thus "an officer generally does not need probable cause or reasonable suspicion to justify knocking on the door and then making verbal inquiry." *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 165, 776 S.E.2d at 66 (quoting *United States v. Cephas*, 254 F.3d 488, 493 (4th Cir. 2001)).

However, in *Counts* our supreme court also considered the knock and talk technique under the "unreasonable invasion of privacy" provision of the South Carolina Constitution. *Id.* at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 70. The court concluded that our constitution requires that "law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at a targeted residence prior to approaching the residence and knocking on the door." *Id.* The court's stated reason for requiring reasonable suspicion prior to conducting a knock and talk was rooted in a concern for "the potential for abuse if law enforcement targets a neighborhood and indiscriminately knocks on doors with the hope of discovering contraband without a search warrant." *Id.*

The "reasonable suspicion" language from *Counts* evokes the standard enunciated by the United States Supreme Court in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968) where the Court held that in the absence of probable cause for arrest, a police officer may stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes, so long as the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity "may be afoot." Reasonable suspicion "requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead a person to suspect another of criminal activity." *State v. Anderson*, 415 S.C. 441, 447, 783 S.E.2d 51, 54 (2016) (citing *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981)). Accordingly, law enforcement officers "must have more than an inchoate and

unparticularized suspicion' or 'hunch.'" *United States v. Slocumb*, 804 F.3d 677, 682 (4th Cir. 2015) (quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27 (1968)).

"A court must look to the totality of the circumstances in determining whether the officer had a particularized and objective basis for suspecting criminal activity." *Foster*, 634 F.3d at 246. Nevertheless, it is appropriate for a reviewing court to separately evaluate all of the factors articulated by the state and considered by the trial court. *Id.*

Officer Sherwood's testimony precludes a finding that he had reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at Ms. Holman's residence. He admitted that he was not called to the scene for anything related to Ms. Holman's apartment or the two Defendants. During the 15 minutes between the time Boston and Holmes went into the apartment and the knock and talk, Officer Sherwood admitted that he saw nothing suggesting criminal activity occurring there. Instead, he testified only that he was familiar with the people involved, which gave him a feeling that it was "kind of weird" and "odd" that Boston and Holmes would go into Ms. Holman's apartment. At most, Officer Sherwood's testimony describes only an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion" or "hunch," which is not sufficient to support a finding of reasonable suspicion. *See Slocumb*, 804 F.3d at 682. Furthermore, Officer Sherwood's stated reason for approaching Ms. Holman's door was to, "see if there is any possibly any crime or if she had any information for us." (R. p.17, ln. 7-12). Officer Sherwood's testimony that he was looking for evidence of "any possibly any crime" proves that any suspicion he had was at best, unparticularized. At worst, it approaches he the kind of indiscriminate knocking on a person's door in search of contraband that so concerned the *Counts* court. Thus, based on Officer Sherwood's stated reason for approaching Ms. Holman's door, the trial court should have found that reasonable suspicion of illegal activity did not exist.

Moreover, the factors articulated by the State and cited by the trial court do not support a finding that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion of illegal activity. As a first factor, Officer Sherwood stated that the area around Ms. Holman's apartment was a hot spot for narcotics activity. While the characteristics of the neighborhood can be considered in the totality of the circumstances analysis, it carries no weight standing alone. *Anderson*, 415 S.C. at 447-48, 783 S.E.2d at 55. Moreover, courts have noted the inherent unfairness of relying on this factor in establishing reasonable suspicion. See *United States v. Perrin*, 45 F.3d 869, 873 (4th Cir. 1995) ("Were we to treat the dangerousness of the neighborhood as an independent corroborating factor, we would be, in effect, holding a suspect accountable for factors wholly outside of his control."); *Anderson*, 415 S.C. at 448, 783 S.E.2d at 55 (expressing concern about the erosion of an individual's right to be free from warrantless searches by virtue of the fact that a person has the "misfortune of living in an area plagued by crime"); see also *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 70 (noting as its primary concern, "the potential for abuse if law enforcement targets a particular neighborhood in the hope of discovering contraband without a search warrant").

In this case, the fact that Mr. Boston was in a high crime area should be given little or no weight. The police were not in the area for the purpose of investigating the narcotics activity for which Mr. Boston was ultimately arrested. See *Anderson*, 415 S.C. at 448, 783 S.E.2d at 55 (affording little weight to the suspect's presence in a high crime area when the suspect was merely near a property being searched). Moreover, Mr. Boston was not observed doing anything suspicious, much less anything indicative of narcotics activity. He was observed merely walking from a taxi to an apartment of someone he knew.

As a second factor, Officer Sherwood cited his prior "several run-ins with" Boston and Holmes, including Sherwood's claim that he recognized the two from a house where the NCCPD

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