RECEIVED

May 21 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000504

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DARELL ONEIL BOSTON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 05 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

would not have served the goals of the exclusionary rule in any way since the officers were simply acting in a manner that had been judicially condoned at the time of the “knock-and-talk.” Accordingly, the trial judge committed no error by declining to suppress the evidence discovered as the result of the “knock-and-talk,” which, notably, was conducted several months before the “newly enunciated” rule from State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015), requiring reasonable suspicion was even in existence. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

Beyond the protections afforded by the United States Constitution, the South Carolina Constitution provides its own protections to the state’s citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]”); see also U.S. Const. amend. IV (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be

violated by the challenged search or seizure.”); Alderman v. United States, 394 U.S. 165, 174 (1969) (“Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights which, like some other constitutional rights, may not be vicariously asserted.”); cf. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 91 (1998) (holding Carter and his accomplice had no expectation of privacy in another person’s apartment that they were only briefly and temporarily using for the business-like purpose of packaging cocaine); State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 530, 765 S.E.2d 564, 570 (2014) (“[W]e find that [Robinson] was ‘merely present with the consent of the householder,’ and as such, did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy on the porch of Apartment 122.” (citations omitted)). Accordingly, the trial judge’s ruling refusing to suppress evidence discovered as the result of an allegedly unreasonable invasion of someone *other than* Appellant’s state constitutional right to privacy should be affirmed due to Appellant’s lack of a reasonable expectation of privacy in Holman’s residence. Cf. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 326, 649 S.E.2d 479, 485 (2007) (Pleicones, J., concurring) (“Analysis of the facts of this case with our privacy provision in mind reveals no state constitutional violation. Although one’s expectation of privacy in his automobile increases when that automobile is parked in the backyard of his private residence, [Weaver] in this case was not the owner of the Jeep that was seized. More importantly, the vehicle was not parked at [Weaver]’s residence. Our state constitution’s provision protecting unreasonable invasions of privacy necessarily requires some analysis of the privacy interests involved when a warrantless seizure is made on private property. However, [Weaver] cannot show he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the seized Jeep.” (footnote omitted)).

violated[.]”). Furthermore, primarily in order to guard against invasive technological advancements, the South Carolina Constitution also expressly protects our citizens from “unreasonable invasions of privacy.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see Forrester, 343 S.C. at 647, 541 S.E.2d at 842 (“[T]he drafters of our state constitution’s right to privacy provision were principally concerned with the emergence of new electronic technologies that increased the government’s ability to conduct searches.”).

Through the additional provision regarding invasions of privacy, “the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007). Thus, “the South Carolina Constitution favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” Id. However, the South Carolina Constitution by its express language only forbids searches, seizures, and invasions of privacy that are *unreasonable*. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) (“It is only unreasonable searches and seizures that are prohibited.”); see also Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”). Accordingly, just like the search and seizure protections offered by the federal constitution, the touchstone of our state constitution’s search and seizure protections is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them ‘fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.’ ” (citation omitted)).

Typically, when a constitutional violation occurs, any evidence seized as the result of that unconstitutional action must be excluded from trial pursuant to the exclusionary rule, which is a judicially-created remedy designed to serve as a deterrent sanction against unconstitutional conduct. Weaver, 374 S.C. at 319, 649 S.E.2d at 482; see generally State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) (“The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment.” (citation omitted)). Importantly though, the exclusion of evidence following an unconstitutional action “is ‘not a personal constitutional right,’ nor is it designed to redress the injury occasioned by an unconstitutional search.” Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236 (2011) (citations omitted); see Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465, 486 (1976) (“[T]he [exclusionary] rule is not a personal constitutional right. It is not calculated to redress the injury to the privacy of the victim of the search or seizure[.]”); Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960) (“The [exclusionary] rule is calculated to prevent, not to repair.”). Due to the heavy costs exacted by the exclusion of evidence on both the judicial system and society as a whole, application of the exclusionary rule is only appropriate where the deterrent benefits of the rule outweigh the heavy costs its application would exact. Brown, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266. As a result, not every constitutional violation warrants the application of the exclusionary rule. State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2014).

With those principles in mind, the matter at issue in the case sub judice involves two distinct inquiries. The first inquiry hinges on the question of whether the officers’ actions in conducting the “knock-and-talk” at Holman’s residence violated Appellant’s constitutional

rights. See Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 223 (1983) (“The question whether the exclusionary rule’s remedy is appropriate in a particular context has long been regarded as an issue separate from the question whether the Fourth Amendment rights of the party seeking to invoke the rule were violated by police conduct.”). Meanwhile, the second—and most critical— inquiry hinges on the question of whether suppression of the evidence was warranted in the event a constitutional violation did occur.¹⁴ See Davis, 564 U.S. at 243 (“Remedy is a separate, analytically distinct issue.”); see also Hudson v. Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 592 (2006) (“[E]xclusion may not be premised on the mere fact that a constitutional violation was a ‘but-for’ cause of obtaining evidence. Our cases show that but-for causality is only a necessary, not a sufficient, condition for suppression.”). To resolve those questions, it is critically important to look to the law in effect—and, thus, available as guidance to the officers—at the time the officers conducted the “knock-and-talk” in Appellant’s case. See Davis, 564 U.S. at 250 (“[W]hen the police conduct a search in objectively reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent, the exclusionary rule does not apply.”).

Looking to the relevant law concerning “knock-and-talks,” the citizens of the United States—including the citizens of South Carolina—have extended an implicit license through deeply-ingrained customs and practices to their fellow citizens to approach their homes, knock on their doors, wait to be received, attempt to speak with them, and then depart absent some invitation to stay longer. Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 8 (2013). Historically, that implicit

¹⁴ Significantly, resolution of the second inquiry is so critical its resolution can render resolution of the first inquiry wholly unnecessary. Cf. United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 925 (1984) (explaining a reviewing court may proceed directly to the good faith inquiry without first deciding whether a warrant was supported by probable cause); United States v. Bynum, 293 F.3d 192, 194-195 (4th Cir. 2002) (“Assuming without deciding that no probable cause supported the warrant, we will proceed ‘immediately to a consideration of the officers’ good faith.’” (citations omitted)).

license has been extended to all manner of visitors and has granted door-to-door salesmen, service providers, evangelicals, neighbors, *law enforcement officers*, and anyone else who might wish to do so an equal opportunity by which they can attempt to make contact with the residents of a home regardless of their particular motives for doing so. See id. at 9, n. 4 (recognizing “*all are invited*” to approach a home to speak with an occupant pursuant to the implicit license).

Thus, even though every homeowner might not need—or even have the remotest desire—to buy a new vacuum cleaner or box of cookies, obtain assistance with yard maintenance, speak to a stranger who wants to discuss religion or some other topic, lend a cup of sugar, or chat with an officer of the law, a citizen of our state and country can permissibly approach a home and knock on the door in an effort to talk to someone inside solely by virtue of the implicit license derived from long-standing customs and practices. Id. at 8.

Accordingly, law enforcement officers—including those in South Carolina—have traditionally been fully entitled to avail themselves of that implicit license and, just like everyone else, have been permitted to approach a home to speak with someone residing inside regardless of their purpose for doing so, including if that purpose was to conduct a “knock-and-talk.” See Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 469-470 (2011) (recognizing law enforcement officers not armed with a warrant ordinarily do not violate an individual’s constitutional rights by approaching a home and knocking on a door). Demonstrating that fact, our Supreme Court expressly recognized law enforcement officers were *obviously* entitled to go to a person’s home and door to interview that person through its decision in State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 444, 706 S.E.2d 324, 328 (2011), which was decided over four years before the officers approached the residence to conduct the “knock-and-talk” in Appellant’s case. Specifically, in Wright, law enforcement officers received an anonymous tip dogfighting was taking place at a mobile home,

drove past the residence identified in the tip on a public road to investigate, and observed a large number of vehicles and shining spotlights at the residence. Id. at 440, 706 S.E.2d at 325. Based on their observations, the officers stealthily approached the home in multiple vehicles by driving down a private dirt road and activated their headlights just as they neared the home. Id. at 440, 706 S.E.2d at 326. When they did so, the officers saw people and dogs running away along with a portable dogfighting pit that was being dismantled. Id. In response, the officers detained the people who attempted to flee, arrested Wright and his co-defendants, captured as many dogs as they could, and seized numerous items of evidence related to dogfighting that were found in plain view. Id. at 440-441, 706 S.E.2d at 326. Following their arrests, Wright and the others moved prior to trial to suppress the evidence due to the fact the officers seized it after making a warrantless entry onto private property, and the circuit court judge granted their suppression motions. Id. at 441, 706 S.E.2d at 326. Subsequently, the State appealed the circuit court judge's ruling, and the Supreme Court reversed. Id. at 446, 706 S.E.2d at 329. In reversing, the Supreme Court specifically found the officers' entry onto the private road and approach of the mobile home were constitutionally proper because the officers had investigative authority to enter the property *even if* the officers had not developed a reasonable basis for proceeding forward at the time they did so. Id. at 444-445, 706 S.E.2d at 328.

However, subsequent to the decision in Wright and just over four months *after* the officers discovered Appellant in the process of manufacturing crack cocaine inside Holman's residence, our Supreme Court took another look at the issue of "knock-and-talks" in State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 167, 776 S.E.2d 59, 67 (2015), and addressed the question of whether a law enforcement officer's approach of a home to knock on its door and speak with an occupant for investigative purposes constituted a violation of the South Carolina Constitution. After

analyzing the issue, a majority of the Supreme Court determined “there must be some threshold evidentiary basis for law enforcement to approach a private residence” based on “the potential for abuse” that could occur if officers were permitted to approach citizens’ homes without restriction. *Id.* at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 69. Therefore, the majority articulated a new rule of criminal procedure in South Carolina holding “law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at a targeted residence prior to approaching the residence and knocking on the door.” *Id.* at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 70. The majority then applied that “newly enunciated rule” to the facts of Counts’s case before determining Counts’s rights under the South Carolina Constitution were not violated.¹⁵ *Id.* at 173, 776 S.E.2d at 70.

In light of the Counts decision, law enforcement officers in South Carolina now unquestionably must possess reasonable suspicion in order to approach a residence for the purposes of conducting an investigative “knock-and-talk,” and the actions of the officers in Appellant’s case would have violated the state constitution if the officers did not possess sufficient information under the totality of the circumstances to satisfy the relatively low bar of the reasonable suspicion standard when they approached Holman’s door.¹⁶ *Id.* at 172, 776

¹⁵ Because it determined no state constitutional violation occurred in Counts’s case, the Supreme Court did not address the question of whether application of the exclusionary rule would have been appropriate if the officers had, in fact, violated Counts’ constitutional rights. Counts, 413 S.C. at 173, 776 S.E.2d at 70. As a result, the Supreme Court’s decision in Counts did *not* establish the exclusionary rule can or should be applied in cases involving suspicionless “knock-and-talks” performed prior to the creation of the new rule requiring reasonable suspicion. See Hutto v. S. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 259 S.C. 170, 173, 191 S.E.2d 7, 8-9 (1972) (“It is, of course, settled law that ‘a case cannot be considered as a binding precedent on a legal point that was not argued in the case and not mentioned in the opinion.’” (citation omitted)).

¹⁶ Notably, even if the officers did not possess reasonable suspicion at the time they approached Holman’s door, their decision to do so was motivated—at least to some extent—by their legitimate desire to check on Holman’s welfare, which did *not* require any reasonable suspicion on their part. See Counts, 413 S.C. at 174, n. 7, 776 S.E.2d at 71 (“[O]ur decision should not be misconstrued . . . to prevent law enforcement from conducting ‘welfare checks’ at residences.”).

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